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The End of an Era: 2019
Two Thousand Nineteen was a year of many uncertainties in the foreign trade arena. First, the 
ratification of the revamped NAFTA moved very slowly, although it was anticipated that all 
three countries would eventually sign the trade agreement, now under a new name - actually 
three new names - USMCA in the United States, T-MEC in Mexico, and CUSMA in Canada. 
Second, current U.S. policies regarding border wall construction, detentions, deportations 
and handling of asylum issues has impacted border ports of entry and relations with Mexico. 
Third, U.S. trade relations with China became highly contentious and soon were labeled 
“trade wars.”  There were also signs that the global economy was slowing down. By the end 
of calendar year  2019, the voices from China, at first subtle, but soon rising, started bringing 
attention to the emergence of COVID-19. Mexico is reporting COVID-19 impacts on its 
maquiladora industry which potentially has significant ramifications for Arizona. As we write 
this report, Arizona is considered a hot spot for COVID-19.

What Happens Next? Pandemic Impacts January - May 2020

Due to the coronavirus pandemic, EBRC staff chose to write this report later in the spring than 
in previous years. This delay allows for a look at the first hard data to be released this spring 
reflecting pandemic impacts on the border region and relationships. Pandemic impacts on 
trade and cross border flows were not large during the first three months of 2020. However, 
the April data evidenced unprecedented declines in Arizona's imports and exports, as well 
as, in commodity flows at Nogales District border ports of entry.

In the U.S., major data sets for April 2020 have been released by the U.S. Bureau of Labor 
Statistics and other federal and state agencies. On June 10, 2020, the Economic and Business 
Research Center (EBRC) released revised economic forecasts for Arizona and the Phoenix and 
Tucson metropolitan areas with assumptions based data available by the end of May. 

Report Organization

This report examines important aspects of the Arizona’s position and performance in the 
U.S.-Mexico region. Each section begins with a review of trends during the last decade fol-
lowed by an analysis of Arizona’s competitive position at the end of 2019. We conclude each 
section with a review of the first four months data available for 2020.

INTRODUCTION
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Methodology

Indicators are presented in respective units of measurement, such as dollar value of export-
ed merchandise, number of vehicles and passengers crossing the border, or as percentages 
of totals. To facilitate the comparison of trends with other border states, the latest decade of 
data is provided wherever possible. In many instances, numbers are indexed with the first 
year in the series serving as a base year, e.g., year 2009=100. This method allows for easy 
visual comparison of relative change, especially in situations when entities such as states or 
or nations are compared and volume of trade differs greatly in absolute size. Arizona’s 
competitiveness in the U.S.-Mexico region relative to other border states is represented by a 
simple proxy measure of percentage share with a focus on change between two specified 
periods.

All calculations of change and percentage change are performed using the largest number 
of digits of accuracy available. This means that in a few instances in this report the reader 
may obtain slightly different numbers for differences and percentage change if they perform 
the calculations using the figures from some tables which have been rounded.  Should the 
reader have any questions concerning computations, please contact the authors at 
nadelhof@eller.arizona.edu.

The Data

Most of the datasets used in this report are subject to revision during the year. Some revi-
sions affect three to five years of data, or more. This report was compiled and calculations 
made during May and June of 2020. Please note, this work was done prior to revisions to 
the trade data which typically occur sometime in June of each year. The reader can always 
access the most recently revised data on the AZMEX.eller.arizona.edu website. All the data 
presented in this report are updated on the website as revisions and new data are released. 

INTRODUCTION
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Arizona Trade 2009-2019 
 A Decade of Expansion

TRADE (EXPORTS + IMPORTS) 

Over the Decade 
Arizona’s trade with 

World UP 94.7% 

Mexico UP 90.7%

Canada UP 85.2%

China UP 90.1%

In 2019 
Arizona’s trade with 

World $51.2 billion 
UP 14.0%

Mexico $17.5 billion (34.2% share) 
UP 4.9%

Canada $4.8 billion (9.3% share)
UP 25.9%

China $4.3 billion (8.4% share)
DN 6.0%
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Arizona’s Top Three Trading Partners 

Arizona’s trade with the world almost doubled during the decade 2009 through 2019, increasing 

94.7% growing from $31.3 to $51.2 billion. Trade with Mexico and China were the major 

contributors, gaining 90.7% and 90.1%, respectively. Trade with Canada slowed in the middle 

of the decade, but picked up in 2019 as trade with China began to falter and finished the decade 

with an 85.2% gain, Figure 1.

Figure 1. Arizona’s Trade (Exports + Imports) Growth with the World and Major Trading Partners 

(2009=100)

Mexico has long been Arizona’s major trading partner since well before NAFTA was signed in the 

early 1990s. However, NAFTA has been widely credited for increasing trade volumes between 

Arizona and Mexico which by 2015 accounted for 40% of Arizona’s total trade with the world, 

and has remained by far and away Arizona’s top trading partner. However, in 2019 Mexico’s share 

dropped from the neighborhood of 40% where it had been from 2014 through 2018, down to 

34.2% in 2019 which was approximately its share at the start of the decade. 

7
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ARIZONA TRADE

Canada and China follow in second and third place, although each contributes only roughly one 

third the volume contributed by Mexico. Arizona’s trade with China surpassed Canada during the 

middle of the decade. China’s share increased from 8.6% in 2009 to a peak of 10.2% in 2018, 

only to drop back to 8.4% in 2019, while Canada’s share declined from 9.8% in 2009 to 9.3% in 

2019, Figure 2. Together in 2019, these three countries accounted for 55.8% of Arizona’s foreign 

trade. Table 1 details annual trade levels and growth rates for Arizona’s total world trade and 

trade with its top three trading partners over the decade. 

Table 1. Arizona’s Annual Trade Levels and Growth Rates With Major Trading Partners
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Arizona’s Trend Differs from the Nation

During the second half of the 2009-2019 period, Arizona’s world trade grew at a pace significantly 

faster than the nation as a whole. While Arizona’s trade reached an all-time high in 2019, U.S. 

world trade experienced a noticeable dip in 2019, Figure 3. 

Figure 3. U.S. and Arizona World Trade (2009=100) 

Figure 2. Trade Shares 2019 Arizona’s Major Partners

9
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ARIZONA TRADE

When examined individually, Arizona’s trade with each of its main trade partners also exhibits 

different trends from the nation as a whole. Interestingly, as regards trade with Mexico, the U.S. 

average grew faster than Arizona’s average over the decade, with the U.S. gaining 101.2% which 

was somewhat more robust than Arizona’s 90.7% gain. This partially reflects the fact that a large 

portion of Arizona’s foreign trade had already been tied to Mexico. It was also true that other states 

increased their trade with Mexico during the decade, such as Michigan and other states in the 

“auto alley” region. However, Arizona’s trade with Mexico finished the decade on the upswing 

whereas the nation’s trade with Mexico leveled off in 2019, Figure 4. 

Figure 4. U.S. and Arizona Mexico Trade (2009=100)

By contrast, Arizona’s trade with China outpaced the national average. However, in 2019, both the 

U.S. and Arizona experienced sharp declines in trade with China, although the national decline 

was relatively larger than Arizona’s, Figure 5. 

Arizona’s trade with Canada resembled the national trend except in 2019. While U.S. trade with 

Canada slowed to a halt, trade between Arizona and Canada experienced the largest spike in the 

past decade. In 2019 U.S. trade with Canada was 42% above the 2009 level, while Arizona’s was 

up 85%, Figure 6.
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Figure 5. U.S. and Arizona China Trade (2009=100)

Figure 6. U.S. and Arizona Canada Trade (2009=100)

11
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Arizona’s Exports 2009-2019
In 2019, the value of Arizona’s merchandise exports to the world hit $24.7 billion (Table 2). That 

accounted for approximately 6.7% of Arizona’s GDP in 2019, ranking the state about 18th in the 

nation. The GDP share and rank are rough estimates because the U.S. Bureau of Economic Analy-

sis has not yet released 2019 state GDP. Mexico was Arizona’s largest export destination with 

$8.2 billion in exports in 2019, accounting for roughly one-third of Arizona’s total. Canada was 

the second largest destination at $2.1 billion (Table 3), followed by China with $1.1 billion. 

Table 2. U.S., Arizona and Border States Exports to the World
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According to the 4-digit Harmonized Commodity Description and Coding System (HS), Arizona’s 

top export commodity categories worth over $500 million all consist of high-valued manufactur-

ing products with the notable exception of copper ore and copper concentrates. In 2019, civilian 

aircraft, engines and parts worth $2.7 billion was Arizona’s the highest-valued export category 

followed by electronic integrated circuits worth $2.0 billion. In third place was copper ore worth 

$1.6 billion, Table 3. Arizona’s copper products are exported almost exclusively to Mexico.

Table 3. Arizona’s Top Export Categories in 2019

Arizona’s exports fall into two main categories: exports of merchandise and exports of services. 

Hard numbers for state merchandise exports are available from the U.S. Census Bureau (via USA 

Trade Online). However, data on Arizona’s service exports are harder to come by. Examples of 

service exports are the expenditures of international visitors in the state and foreign purchases of 

engineering consulting services from the state. This analysis is limited to merchandise exports.

13
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ARIZONA TRADE

Focusing on Arizona’s two largest trade partners and the North American integrated production 

system, Arizona’s high-value manufacturing sector exports to Mexico and Canada combined grew 

at an impressive 12.5% to exit the Great Recession only to level off during the subsequent three 

years. The pace picked up again in 2014 with 13.9% growth followed by 8.5% in 2015. Manu-

facturing exports to NAFTA then flattened again for the remainder of the decade, Table 4. This 

pattern is also displayed in Arizona exports to Mexico, Figure 9.

Table 4. Arizona’s Exports to NAFTA Countries, Total and Manufacturing Products
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Figure 7. Arizona’s Manufacturing Exports to NAFTA Countries (Canada + Mexico)

Figure 8. Mfg. Exports to NAFTA Markets - Arizona’s % Share of So. Border States’ Total

15
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Arizona’s Trade With Mexico 
Arizona exports to Mexico include manufacturing products, copper ore and concen-
trates and agricultural goods that originate in the state, and includes all of Arizona 
exports to Mexico, regardless of mode of transportation and port of exit.

EXPORTS TO MEXICO 

Over the Decade 

Arizona UP 80.1% 

California UP 59.1%

New Mexico UP 520.8%

Texas UP 93.8%

U.S. Border States Total UP 87.4%

U.S. UP 98.9%

In 2019 

Arizona UP 7.0% 

California DN 9.6%

New Mexico UP 68.2%

Texas DN 1.0%

U.S. Border States Total DN 1.7%

U.S. DN 3.4%
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Table 5. Exports to Mexico Arizona, So. Border States and U.S., Annual ($ billions)

17



The most recent decade began at the deepest point of the Great Recession in 2009 and, as can be 

seen in Figure 9, Arizona’s exports to Mexico, its largest trading partner, began a rapid recovery 

which lasted six years achieving a record high of $9.1 billion in 2015. After two years of decline 

corresponding roughly with the rapid depreciation of the Mexican peso (Figure 10) and concomi-

tant decline in copper exports to Mexico (Figure 11). Because copper is very sensitive to global 

price fluctuations, in the current era the value of exported copper ore substantially affects the 

over-all value of Arizona’s exports to Mexico. Exports began to recover slowly in 2018 and then 

picked up a pace in 2019.

Practically all of Arizona’s exports of copper ore and concentrates go to Mexico. From $4.2 million 

exported in 2002, the value increased to a staggering $1.6 billion in 2019. As shown in Figure 9, 

the exports of copper ore and concentrates peaked in 2015. Accounting for less than one percent 

of all Arizona’s exports to Mexico in 2005, copper’s share increased to 12.5% in 2011 and by 

2015 came close to 30%. In 2019, copper’s share dropped to 19.6%, which is still a remarkable 

one fifth of Arizona’s total exports to Mexico.
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Figure 9. Arizona Exports to Mexico ($ billions) and Percent Change Y/Y
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Figure 10. Mexican Peso/U.S. $ Exchange Rate

Figure 11. Arizona Exports of Copper Ore and Concentrates to Mexico ($ millions)

19
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Arizona imports from Mexico include manufacturing products and agricultural 
goods that originate in Mexico. This indicator includes all of Arizona imports from 
Mexico regardless of mode of transportation and port of import. A majority of Arizo-
na’s imports from Mexico are moved through Arizona’s border ports of entry, while a 
smaller share is imported through Texas. Phoenix and Tucson also serve as importing 
points, and are included in Arizona’s total imports from Mexico.

IMPORTS FROM MEXICO 

Over the Decade 

Arizona UP 80.1% 

California UP 59.1%

New Mexico UP 520.8%

Texas UP 93.8%

U.S. Border States Total UP 87.4%

U.S. UP 98.9%

In 2019 

Arizona UP 3.1% 

California UP 6.1%

New Mexico UP 73.6%

Texas DN 2.5%

U.S. Border States Total 0%

U.S. UP 3.5%

20      Economic and Business Research Center | Eller College of Management | The University of Arizona
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Table 6. Imports from Mexico Arizona, So. Border States and U.S., Annual ($ billions) 

21



Arizona Trade January-April 2020: 
COVID-19 Impacts

The previous analysis shows that Arizona’s economy has become increasing integrated into inter-

national markets particularly the North American production sharing system. This is also reflected 

in the rise of China to compete with Canada as a trading partner and the increasing volume of 

trade especially in manufacturing products with Mexico and Canada. 

Arizona was in a strong position in terms of trade when the data for 2019 were in. Growth in 

exports and imports were strong in 2019, and Arizona was keeping up with its neighbors with its 

share of So. border states’ total trade increasing.  However, this increasing integration and growing 

export share of GDP, as we have seen with the coronavirus pandemic, carries risk.

Just to recap, in 2019, Arizona’s merchandise exports to the world hit $24.7 billion roughly 6.7% 

of Arizona’s GDP.  Mexico was the state's largest export destination last year, with $8.2 billion, 

accounting for roughly one-third of the total. Canada was our second largest destination at $2.1 

billion, followed by China at $1.1 billion.

China was hit first by the spread of COVID-19 and its industrial activity has been significantly 

curtailed and travel to/from China remains restricted. Mexico is currently experiencing significant 

spread as is Canada. As we write this report, Arizona, California and Texas are COVID-19 hot 

spots. What does this mean for Arizona’s trade relationships and economy? We currently have hard 

data through April 2020. Effects begin to show up in January through March, but as you will see 

declines evidenced by the April data bring trade levels essentially back to the bottom of the Great 

Recession.

Arizona’s total exports to Mexico dropped $213.7 million or 32.1% in April alone. The April num-

ber, $452.5 million, was 34.9% below its value a year ago. Similarly, Arizona’s manufacturing 

products exports dropped 41.5% in April, a decline of 44.9% from its value a year ago. As can be 

seen in Figure 12, April values are now close to where they bottomed out in the Great Recession. 

As shown in Figure 13, the shock to U.S. exports was commensurate in magnitude to Arizona's.

22      Economic and Business Research Center | Eller College of Management | The University of Arizona
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April 2020

EXPORTS TO MEXICO 
Percent Change from April 2019

Arizona DN 34.9% 

California DN 46.4%

New Mexico DN 18.9%

Texas DN 42.9%

U.S. Border States Total DN 42.8%

U.S. DN 43.8%

MFG. EXPORTS TO MEXICO 
Percent Change from April 2019

Arizona DN 44.9% 

California DN 46.7%

New Mexico DN 18.7%

Texas DN 44.4%

U.S. Border States Total DN 44.5%

U.S. DN 45.7%

23
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Table 7. Total Exports to Mexico ($mil), Arizona, So. Border States and U.S. Comparison
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Table 8. Mfg. Exports to Mexico ($mil), Arizona, So. Border States and U.S. Comparison

25
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Figure 12. Arizona Total and Manufacturing Exports to Mexico ($mil), Jan. 2007 to Apr. 2020

Figure 13. U.S. Total and Manufacturing Exports to Mexico ($mil), Jan. 2007 to Apr. 2020
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April 2020

IMPORTS FROM MEXICO 
Percent Change from April 2019

Arizona DN 33.8% 

California DN 33.3%

New Mexico DN 54.6%

Texas DN 49.2%

U.S. Border States Total DN 44.0%

U.S. DN 47.9%

MFG. IMPORTS FROM MEXICO 
Percent Change from April 2019

Arizona DN 43.3% 

California DN 36.1%

New Mexico DN 54.4%

Texas DN 49.7%

U.S. Border States Total DN 45.8%

U.S. DN 49.4%

27



28      Economic and Business Research Center | Eller College of Management | The University of Arizona

Table 9. Total Imports From Mexico ($mil), Arizona, So. Border States and U.S., Monthly
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Table 10. Mfg. Imports From Mexico ($mil), Arizona, So. Border States and U.S., Monthly

29
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U.S. Imports/Exports at Southern 
Ports of Entry 2009 - 2019

In the previous section we reviewed export/import statistics which are based entirely on country or 

state of origin and destination. While the majority of Arizona’s trade with Mexico travels via Arizo-

na’s six border ports of entry (BPOE) comprising the Nogales District, tracking commodities travel-

ing via Arizona’s BPOE reflect the pivotal role they play in facilitating trade exchanges between 

the entire nation and Mexico. 

The top ten U.S. states that export goods to Mexico through the Arizona-Sonora BPOE include: Ari-

zona, California, Michigan, Texas, Illinois, Pennsylvania, Wisconsin, Ohio, Kentucky, and Wash-

ington. In terms of imports from Mexico, the following are the top ten U.S. states utilizing 

Arizona’s border ports of entry: Michigan, Arizona, California, Massachusetts, Illinois, Utah, New 

Jersey, Florida, Connecticut, and Texas. 

Figure 14. U.S. Exports via Nogales District Border Ports of Entry

COMMODITY FLOWS
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COMMODITY FLOWS

Figure 15. U.S. Imports via Nogales District Border Ports of Entry

Figure 16. U.S. Imports of Fresh Produce at Nogales District Border Ports of Entry
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Source: U.S. Census Bureau

COMMODITY FLOWS

Table 11. U.S. Exports and Imports with Subcategories at Arizona BPOE (Nogales District)
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Source: U.S. Census Bureau

COMMODITY FLOWS

U.S. exports through Nogales District BPOE had a strong decade reaching a high of $13.4 billion 

in 2015, declined in 2016-2017, then experienced an upswing with 2.0% and 4.8% growth in 

2018 and 2019, respectively, to round out the decade at $11.7 billion, Figure 14. 

U.S. imports through Nogales District BPOE had a strong recovery from the Great Recession to 

peak at $19.3 billion in 2013, only to generally drift downward to $16.5 billion by 2018. How-

ever, in 2019 with 4.8% annual growth it finished the decade at $17.3 billion, Figure 15. 

In contrast to total imports, Figure 16 shows that Mexican fresh produce imports had a bumpy 

but overall upward climb from $2.8 billion to a record high of $3.6 billion in 2019. Table 11 

breaks out U.S. exports through Nogales District ports into Electric/Electronic Mfg. Products and 

Machinery/Equipment Mfg. Products, and U.S. imports into Electric/Electronic Mfg. Products, 

Machinery/Equipment Mfg. Products, and Mexican Fresh Produce.

U.S. Exports/Imports at Border Ports 
COVID-19 Impacts Jan-Apr 2020

As we can see from the previous section, by the end of the decade, the annual data show com-

modity flows through Arizona’s BPOE were on the upswing for both imports and exports. How-

ever, when we examine the monthly data, it becomes apparent from the year-over-year percent 

changes that exported commodity flows began to slow starting in September 2019. Prior to pan-

demic impacts a declining world copper price was negatively impacting exports.  For imports it 

is less clear when pandemic impacts start to appear mainly due to the seasonality of Mexican 

fresh produce imports which peak in winter.

U.S. Exports via Nogales District BPOE 2020

Despite this slowing in the autumn of 2019 and through March 2020, the major shock to U.S. 

ex-ports appear dramatically in the April data with a 42.2% drop from its value in April of 2019, 

and a one month decline of 38.5% between March and April of 2020, Table 12 and Figure 17. 
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Source: U.S. Census Bureau

COMMODITY FLOWS

Table 12. U.S. Exports at Arizona BPOE (Nogales District), Jan. through Apr. 2020
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Source: U.S. Census Bureau

COMMODITY FLOWS

Table 13. U.S. Imports at Arizona BPOE (Nogales District), Jan. through Apr. 2020
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Source: U.S. Census Bureau

COMMODITY FLOWS

Figure 17. U.S. Exports and Imports via Nogales District, Monthly Data, Jan. 2007 to Apr. 2020

Figure 18. U.S. Exports of Electric/Electronic Mfg. and Machinery/Equipment 

Mfg. at Nogales District,  Monthly Data, Jan. 2007 to Apr. 2020 
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Source: U.S. Census Bureau

COMMODITY FLOWS

One of the distinguishing characteristics of the Nogales District is its position as the principal 

venue for exporting copper ore and concentrates to Mexico. Copper ore comprises one of the top 

exporting commodities through the Nogales District (mainly Nogales port of entry) and is very 

sensitive to global price fluctuations and can substantially affect the overall value of exports 

through Nogales District. In this case, copper exports actually cushioned the drop in total 

exports. The April decline without copper ore is close to 50%, this compared to 42% when 

copper ore is included in total exported value.

U.S. Imports Hit Even Harder Than Exports in April

U.S. imports via Nogales District BPOE dropped 47.8% from its value in April of 2019, and fell a 

staggering 53.6% in a single month between March and April of 2020, Table 13 and Figure 17.

Here, fresh produce plays similar role in the total value of imports as does copper ore in exports.  

By comprising between 25% and 30% of the total value of imports through the Nogales District 

during winter season (running through April), fresh produce may be offsetting somewhat the 

decline experienced by other commodities, Figure 19.  

Figure 19. Imports of Fresh Produce via Nogales District, Monthly Data, Jan. 2007 to Apr. 2020
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Source: U.S. Census Bureau

COMMODITY FLOWS

Figure 20. U.S. Exports of Electric/Electronic Mfg. and Machinery/Equipment Mfg. via Nogales 

District BPOE, Monthly Data, Jan. 2007 to Apr. 2020

Trade in Manufacturing Products Experience Deepest Declines

The closure of manufacturing facilities to curb the spread of COVID-19 caused considerable dis-

ruption in a well-established manufacturing supply chain between the United States and Mexico. 

The April data showed a staggering decline in both imports and exports of manufacturing products 

facilitated through the Nogales District.

Figures 20 and Table 14 show the impacts on principal manufacturing products in cross-border 

trade between the U.S. and Mexico through the Nogales District. Among U.S. exports the most 

affected were electrical equipment (NAICS 335), computer and electronic equipment 

(NAICS 334), and transportation equipment (NAICS 336).  The same three categories of manufac-

turing products comprise the top manufacturing imports from Mexico, reflecting the high level of 

integration in cross-border manufacturing production. As shown in Table 14, the transportation 

sector (Machinery/Equipment Mfg.) took the hardest hit with a year-over-year drop of 78.8%.
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COMMODITY FLOWS

Table 14. U.S. Total Imports, Total Exports,  and Imports + Exports of Electric/Electronic Mfg. 

and Machinery/Equipment Mfg. via Nogales District
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COMMODITY FLOWS
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April 2020

U.S. EXPORTS NOGALES DISTRICT
Percent Change from April 2019

Total DN 42.2% 

Electric/Electronic Mfg. DN 59.2%

Machinery/Equipment Mfg. DN 75.8%

U.S. IMPORTS NOGALES DISTRICT 
Percent Change from April 2019

Total DN 47.8% 

Electric/Electronic Mfg. DN 59.1%

Machinery/Equipment Mfg. DN 74.5%

Mexican Fresh Produce DN 10.2%

U.S. EXPORTS + IMPORTS NOGALES DISTRICT
Percent Change from April 2019

Total DN 45.6% 

Electric/Electronic Mfg. DN 59.0%

Machinery/Equipment Mfg. DN 75.2%
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COMMODITY FLOWS

For further context on the magnitude of the changes evidence this spring, Table 15 shows the 

monthly changes in the total trade volumes for all U.S. southern BPOE in the So. border 

states combined.

Table 15. Commodity Flows at All Southern U.S. BPOE, Monthly Data
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Border Crossings

The dynamics of border crossings through Arizona’s border ports of entry reflect the composite 

effects of both the economic, trade and personal ties between Arizona and Mexico, and border 

crossing procedures and requirements. 

Personal Vehicle Crossings

Periods of economic slowdown, together with more stringent border crossing procedures tend to 

reduce the number of personal vehicle crossings, as the data since early 2000 suggest. Among 

Arizona’s six border ports of entry, Nogales facilitates the largest number of personal vehicle cross-

ings. San Luis is second, followed by Douglas. 

Figure 21. Annual Personal Vehicle Border Crossings at Nogales District BPOE

BORDER CROSSINGS
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Personal vehicles are the primary mode of transportation for people crossing the border. Data in-

cludes frequent crossings by local residents, as well as crossings by people traveling to destinations 

away from the border for the purpose of business, medical services, visiting family and friends, 

shopping, or leisure. Data are available only for northbound crossings and include all personal 

vehicles, regardless of the country of vehicle registration, i.e., Mexico, the U.S., or Canada. We 

could expect personal vehicle crossings to be particularly sensitive to impacts of the pandemic. 

While the major hit from the outbreak appeared in the April trade statistics, the most recent bor-

der crossing data we have at this time is for March, and this indeed shows a 22.4% drop in March 

2020 from the volume in March 2019 for Nogales District crossings, Table 16.

Table 16. Northbound Personal Vehicle Border Crossings at Southern BPOE, Monthly Data

BORDER CROSSINGS

Source: Bureau of Transportation Statistics and EBRC
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Truck Crossings

Because truck crossings are tied so closely to the import of fresh produce from Mexico and in 

turn those imports have an extreme winter peak seasonality, pandemic effects are not yet evident 

in these data, Figure 22 and Table 17.

Figure 22. Monthly Truck Northbound Border Crossings at Nogales District BPOE

BORDER CROSSINGS
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Table 17. Monthly Truck Northbound Border Crossings at Nogales District BPOE

BORDER CROSSINGS

Source: Bureau of Transportation Statistics and EBRC
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Pedestrian Crossings

Since the early 2000’s, the number of pedestrians has increased relative to all border crossings. 

In the past, pedestrians have predominantly been residents from nearby border cities and towns 

who crossed the border daily or weekly for work, shopping, medical services, or to visit friends 

and family. Increasingly, people on both sides of the border choose to leave their vehicles on their 

side of the border, and cross on foot to avoid vehicle congestion, longer wait times, or for other 

reasons. Given this dynamic and that the pandemic is hitting Arizona and border states in both 

countries hard, it is not surprising that extreme impacts already show up in the March data. 

Pedestrian crossings dropped 32.3% on a year-over-year basis in March. This was a 31.6% drop 

in one month between February and March, Figure 23 and Table 18.

Figure 23. Monthly Pedestrian Northbound Border Crossings at Nogales District BPOE

BORDER CROSSINGS
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Table 18. Monthly Pedestrian Northbound Border Crossings at Nogales District BPOE

BORDER CROSSINGS

Source: Bureau of Transportation Statistics and EBRC
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Source: U.S. Census Bureau

SUMMARY

Concluding Remarks
In previous years, we have done an exhaustive review of all the sections displayed on the Arizo-

na-Mexico Economic Indicators website: azmex.eller.arizona.edu. However, given the extraordi-

nary circumstances this spring, we felt it was more important to review the impacts of the glo-bal 

pandemic on cross-border trade in the first four months of data we have available for 2020 in-

depth. The other data are as always up-to-date on the AZMEX website.

For more context on the U.S. economy, Arizona’s economy and the western states, we refer you 

to EBRC’s Arizona’s Economy website: azeconomy.org. We provide EBRC’s latest economic for-

casts for Arizona, Phoenix and Tucson, as well as detailed current indicators. We are also tracking 

select leading indicators on a daily and weekly basis. As things are evolving so quickly, follow-

ing the website and our forecast articles is the most efficient approach to keeping abreast of this 

information.

While it is difficult to isolate a single impact of COVID-19 on cross-border trade between the 

U.S. and Mexico, it is certain that it has had an extraordinary and never before seen impact, at 

least not since the original NAFTA was inaugurated. As the economic activity in both countries 

slowly resumes, it is to be expected that cross-border trade will pick up, and that hopefully only 

this past April will be remembered as the worst month in any year. However, the recovery from 

damages caused by pandemic is taking place in an already changing economic landscape.  No 

doubt, COVID-19 pandemic created rough waters for cross-border trade as the new trade 

agreement, USMCA, enters the scene.
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DATA SOURCES

Population
Arizona Office of Employment and Population Statistics, Arizona Department of Administration:
laborstats.az.gov

Instituto Nacional de Estadistica y Geografia (INEGI), Banco de Información Económica (BIE):
www3.inegi.org.mx

U.S. Census Bureau, Population Division: www.census.gov

U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey: www.census.gov

Border Crossings
U.S. Department of Transportation, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology (RITA), 
Bureau of Transportation Statistics (BTS): www.bts.gov

Economic Output
U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis: www.bea.gov 

Instituto Nacional de Estadistica y Geografia (INEGI), Banco de Información Económica (BIE):
www3.inegi.org.mx

Economic Business and Research Center, Eller College of Management, The University of Arizona:
ebr.eller.arizona.edu

Exports to Mexico and Canada
U.S. Census Bureau via USA Trade: usatrade.census.gov

Commodity Flows
U.S. Census Bureau via USA Trade: usatrade.census.gov

Export-Based Economy
U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS): www.bls.gov

Current Employment Statistics (CES): www.bls.gov/ces
Quarterly Census of Employment And Wages (QCEW): www.bls.gov/cew/cewover.htm 

Instituto Nacional de Estadistica y Geografia (INEGI), Banco de Información Económica (BIE): 
www3.inegi.org.mx

Knowledge-Based Economy
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office: www.uspto.gov 

National Science Foundation: www.nsf.gov 

U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS): www.bls.gov 

U.S. Census Bureau, American Fact Finder: www.factfinder.census.gov

Foreign Direct Investment
Instituto Nacional de Estadistica Y Geografia (INEGI), Banco de Información Económica (BIE):
www3.inegi.org.mx

Find the complete Arizona-Mexico Economic Indicators at: 
AZMEX.eller.arizona.edu
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